
 

 
 

Lloyd White 

Head of Democratic Services 

London Borough of Hillingdon, 

Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 

www.hillingdon.gov.uk  

   

External 
Services 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

Councillors on the Committee 
 
Councillor John Riley (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Edwards (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Teji Barnes 
Councillor Mohinder Birah 
Councillor Tony Burles 
Councillor Brian Crowe 
Councillor Phoday Jarjussey 
Councillor Michael White 
 

   

Date: TUESDAY, 13 FEBRUARY 
2018 
 

 

Time: 6.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE UB8 
1UW 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting  
 

This agenda and associated 
reports can be made available 
in other languages, in braille, 
large print or on audio tape.  
Please contact us for further 
information.  
 

  
Published: Monday, 5 February 2018 

 Contact: Nikki O'Halloran 
Tel: 01895 250472 
Email: nohalloran@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 
This Agenda is available online at:  

http://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=118&Year=0  

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
Useful information for  
residents and visitors 
 
 
Travel and parking 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. Please enter from the 
Council’s main reception where you will be 
directed to the Committee Room.  
 
Accessibility 
 
An Induction Loop System is available for use 
in the various meeting rooms. Please contact 
us for further information.  
 
Attending, reporting and filming of meetings 
 
For the public part of this meeting, residents and the media are welcomed to attend, and if 
they wish, report on it, broadcast, record or film proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. It is recommended to give advance notice to ensure any particular 
requirements can be met. The Council will provide a seating area for residents/public, an 
area for the media and high speed WiFi access to all attending. The officer shown on the 
front of this agenda should be contacted for further information and will be available at the 
meeting to assist if required. Kindly ensure all mobile or similar devices on silent mode. 
 
Please note that the Council may also record or film this meeting and publish this online. 
 
Emergency procedures 
 
If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. 
 
In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations. 

 



 

 

 

Terms of Reference 

 
 
1. To scrutinise local NHS organisations in line with the health powers conferred by the 

Health and Social Care Act 2001, including: 
 

(a) scrutiny of local NHS organisations by calling the relevant Chief Executive(s) to 
account for the work of their organisation(s) and undertaking a review into issues 
of concern; 

 
(b) consider NHS service reconfigurations which the Committee agree to be 

substantial, establishing a joint committee if the proposals affect more than one 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee area; and to refer contested major service 
configurations to the Independent Reconfiguration Panel (in accordance with the 
Health and Social Care Act); and  

 
(c) respond to any relevant NHS consultations.  

 
2. To act as a Crime and Disorder Committee as defined in the Crime and Disorder 

(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 and carry out the bi-annual scrutiny of 
decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge by the 
responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions. 

 
3. To scrutinise the work of non-Hillingdon Council agencies whose actions affect 

residents of the London Borough of Hillingdon. 
 
4. To identify areas of concern to the community within their remit and instigate an 

appropriate review process. 
 

 



 

 

Agenda 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Chairman's Announcements 
 

 

PART I - MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

1 Apologies for absence and to report the presence of any substitute 
Members 
 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interest in matters coming before this meeting  
 

3 Exclusion of Press and Public   

To confirm that all items marked Part I will be considered in public and that any items 
marked Part II will be considered in private  
 

 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting - 11 January 2018 1 - 8 
 

5 Safer Hillingdon Partnership Performance Monitoring TO FOLLOW 

 

6 Community Sentencing Working Group Final Report 9 - 32 
 

7 Work Programme 2017/2018 33 - 38 
 

 

PART II - PRIVATE, MEMBERS ONLY 
 

8 Any Business transferred from Part I  
 



Minutes 

 

 

EXTERNAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
11 January 2018 
 
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 
 

 Committee Members Present:  
Councillors John Riley (Chairman), Teji Barnes, Mohinder Birah, Tony Burles, 
Brian Crowe, Beulah East (In place of Phoday Jarjussey), Raymond Graham (In place 
of Ian Edwards) and Michael White 
 
Also Present: 
Trevor Begg, Chair - Primary Care Board, Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group 
Graham Hawkes, Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Hillingdon 
Caroline Morison, Chief Operating Officer, Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group 
Mrs Armelle Thomas, Resident of Heathrow Villages 
 
LBH Officers Present:  
Dr Steve Hajioff (Director of Public Health) and Nikki O'Halloran (Democratic Services 
Manager) 
 
Press and Public: 12 
 

37. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TO REPORT THE PRESENCE OF ANY 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  (Agenda Item 1) 
 

 Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Ian Edwards (Councillor Ray 
Graham was present as his substitute) and Councillor Phoday Jarjussey (Councillor 
Beulah East was present as his substitute).  Through the Chairman, the Committee 
sent their best wishes to Councillor Jarjussey. 
 

38. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  (Agenda Item 3) 
 

 RESOLVED:  That all items of business be considered in public. 
 

39. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 14 NOVEMBER 2017  (Agenda Item 4) 
 

 RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2017 be 
agreed as a correct record.   
 

40. HEATHROW VILLAGES GP SERVICE PROVISION  (Agenda Item 5) 
 

 The Chairman welcomed those present to the meeting.  He noted that the report of the 
GP Pressures Working Group was likely to be circulated this year.   
 
This meeting had been scheduled to enable Members to gain a greater understanding 
of the issues faced by Heathrow Villages residents with regard to GP access and to 
establish what action had been taken or planned to address these issues.  Although 
the Committee could not make any decisions or make any promises about future 
conduct, the Chairman advised that this would be an issue that would be kept under 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



  

review.   
 
Ms Caroline Morison, Chief Operating Officer at Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning 
Group (HCCG), advised that Ms Sue Hardy, Director of Estates at HCCG, had given 
her apologies for the meeting.  HCCG had taken over primary care commissioning from 
NHS England (NHSE) ten months ago so was now able to control the GP contracts.   
 
All of Hillingdon's neighbouring boroughs now had delegated primary care 
commissioning powers which meant that HCCG would be able to work with those 
CCGs to plan services.  A number of good ideas to support improved access for the 
Heathrow Villages had arisen out of a procurement process currently underway in the 
south of the Borough and could be discussed with Members at a future meeting.  
 
It was noted that HCCG did not yet have control of the pharmaceutical budget.  
Although many residents in Heathrow Villages did not have easy access to a 
pharmacy, NHSE had a rigid methodology from which it would not deviate.  This 
methodology of mapping the population against all pharmacies meant that the 
pharmacies at Heathrow Airport were counted in the total available in the area to local 
residents and included those that were airside and completely inaccessible.  
Representations had been made to NHSE to advise that, as residents would not 
specifically go to Heathrow Airport to eat or shop, this methodology did not make 
sense.  It was suggested that, if NHSE insisted that the pharmacies be included in the 
total count, then NHSE should be asked to ensure that residents had easy access to all 
of the pharmacies at Heathrow Airport (including those airside).  If pharmaceutical 
commissioning were to be moved locally, action could perhaps be taken to address 
this.   
 
Members were advised that residents were able to go to pharmacies at Heathrow 
Airport with their prescriptions but it was highly likely that they would have to return at 
another time to pick it up as most prescription medication was not kept on site.   
 
Mr Trevor Begg, Chair of the Primary Care Board at HCCG, advised that part of the 
new primary care model included pharmacies working in general practice.  However, 
for Heathrow Villages, a practice location would need to be found first.  HCCG was in 
the process of testing and piloting online offers which included online consultations and 
prescribing.  Whilst it was recognised that this type of access would be useful to some 
patients (such as those that worked shifts), the technology was not quite fit for purpose 
and, when it was, would have to be launched in an area where there was an immediate 
need.  It was also recognised that, as not all Heathrow Villages residents had access to 
computers and that not all residents were comfortable using a computer, it would be 
important to continue to provide alternative access to services as well as access to 
information in alternative formats.  Work had been undertaken with regard to the 
introduction of artificial intelligence but this had not been progressed as patient 
feedback had indicated that this had not been in an appropriate context. 
 
Heathrow Villages comprised approximately 13,627 residents and was one of the least 
densely populated wards in Hillingdon with 5.9 people living per hectare (compared to 
25.9 per hectare for Hillingdon overall) - this was largely due to Heathrow Airport 
occupying a large part of the ward.  The life expectancy for Heathrow Villages residents 
was broadly in line with the Hillingdon average but had a slightly smaller number of 
residents aged 75+ and a sizeable paediatric population.   
 
Work had already started with regard to improvements in the provision of GP services 
in the south of the Borough which included: 

Page 2



  

• Yiewsley Health Centre had secured £500,000 of NHSE Estates, Technology 
and Transformation Fund (ETTF) funding to develop new clinical rooms.  The 
practice had also requested £87,000 of s106 funding to improve the entrance, 
reception and waiting areas.   

• Heathrow Medical Centre had secured £241,000 ETTF funding to expand the 
premises with three new clinical rooms that were expected to be completed in 
early 2018.   

• The identification of potential opportunities for expanding the West Drayton 
Medical Centre (The Green). 

 
It was recognised that most practice patient list sizes in UB3 and UB7 were increasing 
and action needed to be taken to ensure that access was proportionate.  Demand at 
Orchard Medical Practice and Hayes Town Medical Centre had been affected by the 
Hayes Town development and it was important to ensure that the services provided 
and the estates matched the need.   
 
Ms Morison advised that, in 2016, following feedback regarding the number of patients 
that had been unable to register with a GP in the south of the Borough, HCCG had 
worked with NHSE and practices in UB7 and UB3 to look at access/coverage and 
boundaries.  Since then, HCCG had received fewer complaints about being unable to 
register with a GP and practice performance appeared to have improved.  Alongside 
this work, an analysis of practice boundaries had been undertaken. 
 
Mr Begg advised that HCCG had taken on level 3 delegated responsibility for primary 
care commissioning in April 2017.  HCCG's strategy set out its priorities, drivers and 
enablers for sustainable, high quality care in Hillingdon and supported its prioritisation 
of investment.  In 2017/2018, the growth in the primary care budget in Hillingdon was 
around £1.2m and had been used to support existing practices.  The primary care 
allocation for HCCG in 2018/2019 had increased by approximately £1.8m and would be 
used for things such as fitting out and medical equipment.   
 
Additional funding was available to support transformation work such as online access 
and development of 'at scale' primary care.  HCCG was undertaking some work to level 
things up across the Borough and was currently in the middle of a procurement 
process for specific services which would include Heathrow Villages.  It was anticipated 
that this procurement process would conclude by the early/middle of March 2018 so 
further details would be available thereafter. 
 
During 2017/2018, HCCG had developed:  

• three extended access hubs across the Borough, providing pre-bookable 
primary care appointments seven days a week from 8am to 8pm.  Concern was 
expressed that GP practices were not always telling patients about the extended 
hours service provision so patients were still attending the UCC.   

• an integrated paediatrics clinic, piloted in the south of the Borough which was 
now being rolled out Borough-wide.  Hospital consultants were able to see 
children and their families alongside general practitioners in local surgeries 
rather than in hospital.  Approximately 660 appointments had already been 
completed and it was anticipated that this would reduce the impact on Hillingdon 
Hospital whilst also encouraging self care.   

• a paediatric asthma service that worked with general practice in schools.  This 
had been introduced in the south of the Borough and would help to keep 
residents well in a community setting.   

• 15 Care Connection Teams (CCTs) which were community teams that worked 
jointly with general practice to support residents most at risk of admission to 

Page 3



  

hospital to stay well and in their usual place of care.  As no self referrals were 
permitted, residents needed to be registered with a GP.  However, if residents 
were not registered with a GP (as was the case with some residents in 
Heathrow Villages), they would not be aware (or accessing) of this service.  It 
was noted that, although the CCT nurses had access to patients' records which 
they could update in real time, access was subject to patient consent.   

 
Members were assured that a shared data system was in place which would mean that 
health professionals in the extended hours hubs would have access to patients' 
medical records and progress was also being made in the ability to share records 
between primary care and community services.  Ms Morison advised that consideration 
was currently being given to integrating the out-of-hours service into this shared data 
system but that access to these records was currently unavailable.   
 
HCCG had been expanding its 'My Health' programme to support residents to self 
manage their health needs.  This programme had been particularly successful with 
workshops delivered around the Borough in relation to issues such as COPD, diabetes 
and paediatric first aid.   
 
It was noted that residents in Heathrow Villages had not had easy access to GPs in a 
very long time and that it appeared that there had only been temporary fixes proposed.  
Members queried the extent to which the new proposals would provide a better service 
and whether there would be incentives for existing practices to provide satellite 
services in Heathrow Villages.  Ms Morison advised that estates were a challenge and 
HCCG needed a venue from which services could be provided (particularly around 
Harmondsworth and Sipson).  HCCG had received useful intelligence regarding 
potential sites but nothing had yet resulted from this.  HCCG was keen to work with 
residents to identify an appropriate property or land on which a prefabricated building 
could be located.   
 
Ms Morison noted that workforce was also a challenge in the south of the Borough.  To 
address this, HCCG had been working with the GP Confederation to develop different 
approaches to attracting and retaining general practitioners including portfolio careers. 
 
As there were not enough residents in Heathrow Villages to provide a standalone GP, 
consideration had to be given to viable alternatives.  Currently, residents (especially 
those in Sipson, Hamondsworth and parts of Longford) were experiencing difficulties in 
registering with a GP and then getting to the practice.  The two practices at the HESA 
Centre had been merged and consideration was being given to the newly combined 
practice providing an outreach service for Heathrow Villages.  Mr Begg advised that, 
once this procurement process had ended, he would be happy to attend a future 
meeting to update the Members.  Action was also being taken regarding workforce 
innovation to enable individuals to work across practices and to build a team of mobile 
GPs.   
 
It was suggested that Hillingdon was trying to use a London model when the area and 
its make up did not align with this model.  As such, it was suggested that models used 
elsewhere, in more comparable circumstances, be put into practice.  The satellite 
model had worked well in other rural areas and, as it was difficult to recruit GPs to work 
in a practice for five days every week, they might welcome the change in routine by 
working from a satellite practice for part of the week.  The model being created by 
HCCG for a GP career was moving towards this model.  In addition, the HESA Centre 
was being developed to become a training practice as well as acting as one of the 
three hubs in the Borough.    

Page 4



  

 
Hillingdon had been relatively successful with regard to workforce retention with four 
out of the six newly trained GPs staying in the Borough in the last year.  GP recruitment 
and retention had been included as part of the Primary Care Strategy in a planned way.  
However, consideration also needed to be given to the recruitment and role of practice 
nurses and to ensuring that their capacity was maximised and training them to become 
prescribing nurses.   
 
It was noted that Hillingdon was historically relatively under-resourced with regard to 
GPs and the low number of training practices within the Borough meant that GPs often 
had to be brought in from outside.  HCCG had been working hard to increase the 
number of training practices in the Borough which, it was hoped, would help to address 
the GP retirement bulge anticipated in the next 5-10 years.  Although Hillingdon had a 
large number of GPs who were approaching retirement, there were also retired GPs 
who had returned to practice part time whilst also mentoring younger GPs.  The GP 
Federation was also looking at this issue and was investigating the possibility of setting 
up an agency or Chambers for GPs that would be prepared to work in other locations.  
Imaginative solutions such as this would be required to maintain and enhance the 
current recruitment and retention policies.   
 
It was suggested that action needed to be undertaken which would then spark interest 
from other services.  For example, the establishment of a GP practice in Heathrow 
Villages might encourage a pharmacy to open in the area.   
 
Mrs Armelle Thomas, a resident in Heathrow Villages, advised that there were five 
villages in the ward but that Sipson, Harmondsworth and Longford were the areas of 
most concern for residents.  In the past, residents had had access to a GP who had 
travelled to Heathrow Villages but his surgery times had been unreliable and paediatric 
patients had not had consistency.  Mrs Thomas believed that there had been a 
systemic failure in dealing with the issues faced by the residents of Heathrow Villages 
and that Ms Morison and Mr Begg had provided information about what they expected 
to happen but, in the meantime, residents had still been suffering over the Christmas 
period.   
 
Although the HESA Centre had been identified as the hub for the south of the Borough, 
Mrs Thomas advised that parking at the practice was a challenge.  For those residents 
of Harmondsworth, Sipson and Longford that used public transport, it would mean 
catching two buses to access services at the HESA Centre.  Furthermore, whilst 
residents were happy with the plans to build a new swimming pool in Yiewsley, 
Heathrow Villages residents would have much preferred to have had access to GPs.  
As plans for the new medical centre in Yiewsley on the old swimming pool site had not 
materialised, Mrs Thomas believed that there was still £400k of s106 money available 
which could be used to provide a GP service for residents in Heathrow Villages.   
 
Mrs Thomas praised Mr Graham Hawkes, Chief Executive Officer at Healthwatch 
Hillingdon, who she had met with on a regular basis.  She also recognised Ms 
Morison's efforts since starting at HCCG and the meetings that she had attended with 
Heathrow Villages residents.   
 
When Dr Singh's 1,500 patients in the Heathrow Villages had passed over to The 
Green, Mrs Thomas advised that the majority of the residents had found the service to 
be unacceptable and that official complaints had been made about a GP practicing 
there.  This was the official surgery for Heathrow Villages residents and had been rated 
as Good in a recent CQC inspection.  Ms Morison noted that, to enable HCCG to take 

Page 5



  

action in relation to the poor performance of any GP, residents needed to provide 
intelligence that could be acted upon in the form of specific complaints.  Mrs Thomas 
advised that she would ensure that Ms Morison was invited to a meeting to speak with 
Heathrow Villages residents in the near future.  However, it was emphasised that the 
formal complaints process would need to be followed in order to act on any concerns. 
 
It was noted that there was likely to be a delay in implementing a permanent solution 
and, as such, a temporary solution was needed.  Possible solutions included the 
development of a permanent medical centre in Heathrow Villages and a satellite 
service.   
 
Mrs Thomas advised that The Lodge, a Grade II listed building located near 
Harmondsworth, would be a good venue for a GP practice.  Following investigation, 
Mrs Thomas had found that the building had been bought by the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government for £3.125m on behalf of the Department for 
Education so that it could be developed as a free school.  She though it strange that 
the Department for Education would want this building when the Department of 
Transport proposals would see the buildings demolished and the area developed as a 
third runway for Heathrow airport.   
 
Other possible sites for a practice included the Great Barn, a Grade I listed building, 
which had Manor Court next door comprising a main house, stables and one other 
building.  A planning application had been submitted for this site to become an HMO.  
Residents of Heathrow Villages had been looking to submit a bid for Heritage Lottery 
funds to buy these properties but would need some support from the Council to be able 
to do this.   
 
Mrs Thomas had been working with John Holland-Kaye, Nigel Milton and Matt Gorman, 
who were all senior executives at Heathrow Airport, to find a solution for residents of 
Heathrow Villages.  As the airport did not have health facilities for passengers and staff 
on site, at the Local Focus Forum on 6 December 2017, it had been agreed that the 
airport would upgrade its occupational health suite to provide a drop-in GP centre.  In 
the short term, Mrs Thomas advised that it was important to capitalise on the Heathrow 
executives' willingness to help residents and for Heathrow Villages residents to have 
access to this facility.  Ms Morison advised that this was still early in the process and 
that further discussions were needed with regard to issues such as determining what 
service would actually be provided, who the service would be commissioned from, 
insurance and registration requirements and access to records.  It would be important 
to ensure that residents were safe.   
 
Mr Hawkes was far more confident of reaching a possible solution now that HCCG was 
responsible for primary care commissioning.  He noted that Healthwatch Hillingdon had 
received a number of complaints raising issues about The Green such as the practice 
deciding to redefine its own practice boundaries.  NHSE had been involved but there 
had been no sanctions.  Other issues that needed to be addressed included those 
Heathrow Villages residents who were registered with a GP in Hounslow so did not 
receive the same service and those non-residents that were registered at practices in 
Hillingdon.   
 
Residents were keen to see a solution to the issues that they faced with regard to 
accessing GP services.  Although there had been a number of possible solutions that 
had failed, it was thought that action was afoot that could provide residents with the 
outcome that they were seeking.  However, they were always mindful of the shadow of 
the third runway proposal hanging over them which made securing services in the area 

Page 6



  

more of a challenge.   
 
Members understood that work was being undertaken to address the issues faced by 
residents of Heathrow Villages but that this needed to be sped up.  Residents had 
already waited a long time.   
 
Mrs Thomas noted that, in addition to not having easy access to GPs, residents had 
recently been advised that the Post Office would also be closing.  She asked if the 
Committee would consider inviting the Post Office to a future meeting.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the presentations be noted. 
 

41. WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018  (Agenda Item 6) 
 

  Consideration was given to the Committee's Work Programme.  It was noted that the 
Committee's next meeting on 13 February 2018 would be in relation to crime and 
disorder.  It was agreed that the London Fire Brigade and the Metropolitan Police 
Service be invited to attend this meeting.  Issues of interest included knife crime, acid 
attacks, drugs and tower blocks. 
 
It was noted that the GP Pressures review was being revisited so that it could be 
concluded.   
 
The report resultant from the Committee's single meeting review of the criminalisation 
of looked after children would be considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 25 January 
2018. 
 
The Community Sentencing Working Group would be considering its draft final report 
on Monday 29 January 2018.  This had been an interesting review which had gained 
the interest of other parties.  The final report would be considered by the Committee at 
its meeting on 13 February 2018 and then taken to Cabinet on 15 March 2018. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the Work Programme be noted.   
 

  
The meeting, which commenced at 6.00 pm, closed at 8.20 pm. 
 

  
These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Nikki O'Halloran on 01895 250472.  Circulation of these 
minutes is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the Public. 
 

 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 13 February 2018 
 

EXTERNAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY 

SENTENCING WORKING GROUP: FINAL REPORT  

 
Contact Officer: Liz Penny 
Telephone: 01895 250185 

 
Appendix A: Community Sentencing Working Group Final Report 

 
 
REASON FOR REPORT 
 
To enable the parent Committee to review and comment on the report and recommendations 
that have arisen from the Community Sentencing Working Group's review into the effectiveness 
of community sentencing in the Borough. 
 
 
SUGGESTED COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
 

1. To add, amend or delete information contained within the report;  
2. To add, delete or amend the recommendations contained within the report  

 
 
INFORMATION 
 
Members should note that, once any suggested amendments are incorporated into the report, it 
will be forwarded to Cabinet for consideration at its meeting on 15 March 2018. 
 
Members are asked to comment on the information contained within the report and ensure that 
the recommendations are reflective of concerns raised during the course of the review.   
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Agendas and minutes from Working Group witness sessions held on: 

• 28 June 2017  

• 21 September 2017  

• 29 January 2018 

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Community Sentencing 

 

A review by the Community Sentencing Working Group 
 

Councillors Ian Edwards (Chairman); Lynne Allen; Catherine Dann; Henry 
Higgins; Manjit Khatra; Jane Palmer 
 

2017/2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 11



 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

Chairman’s Foreword   3 

Summary of recommendations to Cabinet   4 

Background to the review   5 

Evidence and Witness Testimony   7 

Findings and Conclusions   11 

Terms of Reference   17 

Witness and Committee Activity   18 

References   19 

Appendices  20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 2 

Page 12



 

 

 

 

 

Chairman's Foreword 

 

‘A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon’  

 

On behalf of the External Services Community Sentencing Working                 
Group, I am pleased to present this report which was intended to                       
look at the effectiveness of community sentencing in Hillingdon.                 
However, as the review progressed it became apparent that                 
changes introduced in the Government’s Transforming           
Rehabilitation programme initiated in June 2014 have had a                 
significant impact on the accountability of organisations providing               
former probation services both locally and nationally. Regrettably,               
the lack of participation of one of the principal organisations                   
involved in community sentencing has restricted the Working               
Group’s ability to conduct a thorough review of the effectiveness of                     
community sentences within the Borough. As a consequence we                 
are unable to give assurance to our residents that community                   
sentences for less serious crimes are effective in their purpose of                     
reparation and punishment. This is damaging to public confidence                 
in the judicial system and should therefore be of great concern.                     
Furthermore, we were unable to determine that the rehabilitation                 

services provided to offenders in our Borough were effective and it is equally concerning should                             
offenders not be receiving the help that they need to prevent their reoffending. 

Further to this review, the Working Group recommends that its findings regarding the                         
accountability of local partners in terms of scrutiny be forwarded to the appropriate Government                           
departments requesting that improvements be undertaken in this area.  

I would like to take this opportunity to thank those officers who have given up their time to help                                     
the Working Group, and commend them for their continued hard work in providing a high quality                               
community safety service to the residents of the Borough.  

Councillor Ian Edwards 

Chairman of the Community Sentencing Working Group 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 3 

Page 13



 

 

 

 

 

Summary of recommendations to Cabinet 

  
Through the witness sessions and evidence received during the detailed review by the 

Committee, Members have agreed the following recommendations to Cabinet: 

1 
That Cabinet note the changes in how probation services operate since the                       
service was split in June 2014 into the London Community Rehabilitation                     
Company (CRC), responsible for the supervision of community orders for low                     
to medium risk offenders, and the revised National Probation Service with                     
responsibility for higher risk cases. 

2 
That Cabinet recognise the challenges faced by the Working Group particularly                     
in view of the London Community Rehabilitation Company's failure to answer                     
Members' questions and participate readily in the scrutiny process; as a result                       
of which the Committee was unable to conduct a thorough review of                       
community sentencing in the Borough. 

3 
That Cabinet recognise the recent recommendations of the Communities and                   
Local Government Select Committee and request that the Chief Executive                   
forward the Working Group's findings both to local MPs (with a request for                         
comments and feedback) and to the Justices Committee, the Secretary of State                       
for Communities and Local Government and the Chairman of the Communities                     
and Local Government Parliamentary Scrutiny Committee, requesting that               
action be taken to improve the local accountability of Community                   
Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs), specifically in terms of scrutiny. 

4 
That Cabinet also note the non-attendance of the London Community                   
Rehabilitation Company at Community Safety Partnership meetings, which has                 
had a negative impact on the Partnership's ability to reduce crime and                       
reoffending in the Borough. 

5 
That Cabinet request the Chief Executive write to HM Chief Inspector of                       
Probation to seek an inspection of the services provided by the London                       
Community Rehabilitation Company in Hillingdon. 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 4 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

Background to the review 

 

Community sentencing, alternative sentencing and non-custodial sentences are terms used in                     
criminal justice for different methods by which courts can punish and rehabilitate an individual                           
who has been convicted of committing an offence. At the heart of community sentencing is                             
compulsory unpaid work - community payback, the aim of which is that offenders make                           
reparation to the community. Traditionally, victims of a crime played a small part in the criminal                               
justice process. However, the restorative approach to justice often requires the offender to                         
apologise, compensate for the damage that they have caused or repair it with their own labour as                                 
part of the sentence. 

Offenders are likely to be put on probation supervision when a judge or magistrate sentences                             
them to a Community Order which would allow them to make amends for their crime. Instead of                                 
depriving those who commit less serious offences of their freedom, the courts put some                           
limitations on them and give them certain duties. Examples of community sentencing that could                           
be ordered by the court include: 

● up to 300 hours of compulsory unpaid work on local community projects under close                           
supervision. This work could include collecting litter, clearing local land, redecorating                     
community centres (or other public buildings) or assisting the local authority in removing                         
graffiti in public spaces (this can be called community payback or community service); 

● participation in specific activities which could include day centre activities, education and                       
learning, and basic skills assessment and training; 

● participation in programmes accredited by the Home Office which follow a national core                         
curriculum aimed at changing offending behaviour; 

● regularly visiting a probation officer to help the offender improve their behaviour; 
● curfews may be imposed by the court; and 
● wearing an electronic tag. 

 
The shift towards alternative sentencing means that some offenders avoid imprisonment with its                         
many unwanted consequences. This is beneficial for society, as it may assist in preventing the                             
following:  

● loss of employment of the offender; 
● harm to or break-up of the immediate family; 
● the inability of a person to go back to normal life after leaving a prison; 
● the revolving door syndrome and the possibility of becoming a career criminal.   

Furthermore, it is hoped that alternative sentencing could alleviate prison overcrowding and                       
reduce the cost of punishment. However, if an offender breaks the rules of their community                             
sentence, they could be returned to court and, if they have recently been released from custody,                               
be sent back to prison. 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 5 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

Aim of the review 

The primary intention of this review by Elected Members in Hillingdon was to ensure that                             
community sentencing was operating effectively within the Borough, thereby enabling us to build                         
confidence in the criminal justice system amongst local residents and reassure them that                         
community sentences for less serious crimes were being used effectively for the purpose of                           
reparation, punishment and to reduce re-offending rates. 

The review also aimed to gain an understanding of the range and effectiveness of the                             
rehabilitation programmes to which offenders in Hillingdon may be sentenced, as well as the                           
operation and effectiveness of compulsory unpaid work within our community. It sought to offer                           
an insight into the roles of the organisations involved in community sentencing namely the                           
Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) and the National Probation Service (NPS) and to                       
understand how the responsibility for community sentencing was shared between the two                       
organisations. The review also intended to consider the effectiveness of community sentencing                       
in terms of a reduction in repeat offending both across London and, more specifically, within the                               
London Borough of Hillingdon. Having explored the above, the review aimed to investigate the                           
ways in which community sentencing could be improved in Hillingdon and to consider the                           
potential role of the Council in this process. Moreover, this review aspired to reflect on best                               
practice elsewhere by conducting case study reviews, considering policy ideas and obtaining                       
further information via witness sessions attended by relevant parties. Having considered all the                         
above, the review would then bring forward recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to the                             
topic being discussed. 

Whilst it was recognised that the Council had no direct responsibility in the area of community                               
sentencing, it is ideally placed to assist in identifying opportunities for compulsory unpaid work                           
and to make reparation to the community more effective.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 6 

Page 16



 

 

 

 

 

 

Evidence & Witness Testimony 

 

Prior to commencement of the review, it had been noted that the use of community payback as a                                   
sentencing tool had declined both nationally and locally. On 27 April 2017, The Times had                             
published an article entitled ‘Number of offenders handed community sentences halves’ in which                         
it was reported that ‘Magistrates have lost confidence in community punishments and have                         
reduced by half the number of offenders given such sentences…. Despite increasing pressure on                           
prisons, … community sentences are being used less than at any time in the past 13 years.’                                 
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/number-of-offenders-handed-community-sentences-halves-lpcb3m7lj  

The aforementioned article also made reference to a report produced by Crest Advisory (an                           
independent consultancy firm specialising in criminal justice) evocatively entitled ‘Where did it all                         
go wrong? A Study into the use of community sentences in England and Wales.’ This report,                               
dated 25 April 2017, presented a detailed picture of developments in community sentencing over                           
the previous 10 years. It raised a number of concerns regarding both the reduction in the use of                                   
community sentences and the delays between sentencing and commencement of orders.                     
Moreover, said report claimed that community sentences: 

● ‘are implemented in a way that bears little resemblance to the evidence of what works’ 
● ‘are failing to transform lives, acting as little more than a stepping stone on the path to                                 

prison’ 
● ‘have lost the confidence of magistrates’ 

Furthermore, prior to the commencement of the review, the non-attendance of the London                         
Community Rehabilitation Company at Safer Hillingdon Partnership meetings had been                   
highlighted as an additional area of concern. The Partnership had expressed concern that the                           
result of this non-participation was a lack of understanding of the work and effectiveness of the                               
CRCs. Such matters constituted the fundamental premise of the initial decision taken by the                           
External Services Scrutiny Committee to set up a Working Group tasked with a review of                             
community sentencing in the London Borough of Hillingdon. 

At the onset of the review, Members were informed that, in June 2014, the then coalition                               
Government's Transforming Rehabilitation programme had replaced the 35 English and Welsh                     
public sector Probation Trusts with a new National Probation Service (NPS) responsible for the                           
supervision of high-risk offenders, together with 21 Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs)                     
responsible for the supervision of medium- and low-risk offenders. The NPS remained in the                           
public sector whilst contracts to run the 21 CRCs were awarded to eight new providers, seven of                                 
which were private sector companies. As reported in The Howard Journal of Crime and Justice                             
Vol 56 No.2. June 2017, under the revised system ‘the CRCs are now responsible for the lion's                                 
share of offender management work.’ The National Audit Office estimates that around 80% of                           

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 7 

Page 17



 

 

 

 

new cases are now allocated to CRCs. 

The review highlighted the fact that the NPS was responsible for determining which offenders                           
would be allocated to CRCs and which would be retained by the NPS. Members were informed                               
that the CRCs were responsible for supervising Community Orders and licences for all offenders                           
assessed by the National Probation Service (NPS) as not presenting the highest risk of imminent                             
harm. The CRCs also assumed responsibility for initiating the risk escalation process to the NPS                             
when an offender’s circumstances changed significantly or if their behaviour resulted in them                         
presenting an increased and imminent risk of harm to the public. Finally, the CRCs were                             
responsible for initiating breach action in addition to the majority of recalls to prison. 

National Probation Service (NPS) 

In two witness sessions attended by a representative of the National Probation Service (NPS),                           
Members were appraised of the differing roles of the NPS and the CRC and how the two worked                                   
together. 

The NPS representative explained that cases were initially assessed in Court to decide whether                           
offenders should be referred to the CRC or the NPS. Once cases had been passed to the CRC,                                   
the NPS no longer had any involvement with them. However, if the risk were to escalate at any                                   
time, the decision would be taken to pass the case on to the NPS at that point. If subsequently                                     
the risk were to be reduced, the case would still stay within the remit of the NPS and would not                                       
be passed back to the CRC. 

Members were advised that the NPS dealt with the high risk or MAPPA cases (Multi-Agency                             
Public Protection Arrangements); usually those with a 12 month custodial sentence or sentences                         
included in Schedule 15 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003. It was reported that the NPS worked                                 
with people released on licence. Offenders had to report regularly to a manager depending on                             
the level of risk involved; high risk cases were expected to report weekly. Officers produced                             
sentence plans for offenders which included interventions to reduce the risk of re-offending. It                           
was clarified that the CRC handled the vast majority of medium / low risk cases. 

Councillors were advised that community orders were the responsibility of the CRC (with the                           
exception of sex offender programmes) and varied considerably depending on what was                       
considered appropriate to rehabilitate each offender. It was confirmed that one of the community                           
orders most frequently in use was unpaid work, constituting approximately 60% of the total.                           
There was an expectation that this type of work would include a punitive element and would be                                 
for the benefit of the community. It was reported that the main areas of concern related to delays                                   
in starting the community orders and the supervision of said orders. 

The Working Group was advised that the decision regarding the nature of community orders                           
would be taken by the implementer thereby ensuring that health and safety considerations were                           
taken into account. It was felt that the link between local offending and local payback no longer                                 
existed; this had changed since the probation service split into the NPS/CRC.  

With regard to offenders for more serious crimes, it was confirmed that there were currently 140                               
offenders on licence under the supervision of NPS Hillingdon and 52 of those had previously                             
received a community sentence. The largest reoffending group was for violence (18); 10 were for                             
driving matters; 10 for theft; 3 for burglary; 2 for handling stolen goods; 2 for stalking; 2 for public                                     

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 8 

Page 18



 

 

 

 

order offences; 2 for possession of drugs; 1 for sexual assault; 1 for perverting the course of                                 
justice; and 1 for breach of a restraining order. Members were advised that each previous                             
conviction aggravated the offence. Repeat offenders would eventually be sent to prison. 

Magistrates' Court, Local Justice Area 

The Deputy Justices' Clerk attended the second witness session and briefed the Committee on                           
community sentencing in the Borough from her perspective. 

It was explained that magistrates had strict sentencing guidelines which they had to adhere to                             
and which acted as a starting point for sentencing. For minor offences, offenders would receive                             
fines or discharges. The vast majority of cases dealt with in the Magistrates' Court would result in                                 
a fine being imposed. Community sentences (or community orders) were utilised for offences                         
which were considered more serious but which did not necessitate a custodial sentence.                         
Members were informed that there were a number of different community order accredited                         
programmes which varied in length and complexity and were targeted according to risk and                           
need. The magistrates' main priorities when sentencing would be punishment and rehabilitation.                       
Prior to sentencing, Magistrates would consider the probation officer's report; the Bench would                         
then decide on the order and its length and the magistrates would sentence the offender                             
accordingly. 

It was said that magistrates generally had confidence in the community sentencing programmes                         
but had significant concerns regarding delayed start dates; an area which was the responsibility                           
of the CRCs. 

Members were also informed that an inspectorate existed - Her Majesty's Inspectorate for                         
Probation. At present, inspections were conducted on ad hoc basis but would be annual from                             
2018 onwards. The Working Group believe that an early review of services provided by the North                               
West branch of the London CRC would be extremely beneficial.  

Members were advised that, on a day to day basis, the CRC were responsible for checking that                                 
community orders were carried out; they had to adhere to national standards and follow a set of                                 
criteria to ensure each order was completed satisfactorily. Magistrates could request an update                         
from the CRC if they chose to do so but this would be rare due to the high volume of cases they                                           
had to deal with. It was confirmed that the CRCs were paid by results and had been awarded 7                                     
year contracts. 

Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) 

The Area Manager of the North West branch of the London CRC was invited to attend both                                 
meetings of the Working Group but stated that, although willing to answer specific queries by                             
email, she was unable to attend in person due to insufficient resourcing and time constraints. The                               
CRC representative reported that the NPS had responsibility for sentencing and was therefore                         
best placed to assist with the Working Group’s enquiries. Members were informed that the                           
London CRC regularly provided feedback regarding sentencing via PLC meetings with the Courts                         
and interface meetings with the NPS to ensure that sentencing was as joined up and effective as                                 
possible. Despite repeated attempts to engage with the CRC at all levels - to include                             
communication with the Area Manager of the North West branch of the London CRC, the Director                               
of Probation of the London CRC and the Chief Executive Officer of MTC Novo, (the company                               

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 9 

Page 19



 

 

 

 

providing services in London & Thames Valley CRC areas), no additional evidence was                         
forthcoming. 

 

Additional Research conducted 

In addition to the main evidence gathering review meetings, research was conducted into the                           
operation and Criminal Justice Experience of community sentencing under CRC and related                       
organisations.  

Research suggested that the contracts awarded were at extremely low costings, such that much                           
of the intended work with offenders became very difficult to apply. In the contracts there was no                                 
requirement for the CRCs to report periodically to the Local Authority to ensure accountability to                             
the local community who were to be the recipients of the “pay back” element of the work                                 
undertaken by offenders.  

Moreover, further research revealed that the original contracts with the CRCs, as set out by the                               
Ministry of Justice in 2014, included an element of ‘payment by results’ (PbR) linked to                             
reoffending rates. As indicated in the Ministry of Justice’s report entitled “Final and Interim                           
Proven Reoffending Statistics for the Community Rehabilitation Companies and the National                     
Probation Service” which was published on 26 October 2017, ‘PbR is paid for the achievement of                               
statistically significant reductions in reoffending against the baseline year of 2011 as set out in                             
Transforming Rehabilitation contracts with CRCs’. This gives rise to suspicion that the CRC could                           
be deterred from sending back to court those offenders that fail to properly complete their                             
community sentence as this may have financial repercussions for the CRC.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 10 

Page 20



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Findings & Conclusions 

  

Transforming Rehabilitation - changes to the Probation Service 

Members were advised that, in June 2014, the Government's Transforming Rehabilitation                     
programme replaced 35 Probation Trusts with a new National Probation Service (NPS)                       
responsible for the supervision of high-risk offenders, together with 21 Community Rehabilitation                       
Companies (CRCs) tasked with the supervision of medium- and low-risk offenders. Under the                         
Transforming Rehabilitation programme, Members were informed that the principal                 
responsibilities of the revised National Probation Service were as follows: 

● Court reports and parole reports; 
● Initial assessments; 
● High risk offenders and MAPPA; 
● Breaches beyond first warning; 
● Changes in risk of harm; 
● Approved premises; 
● Victim liaison; 
● Sex offender programmes. 

 
whereas the new Community Rehabilitation Companies assumed responsibility for: 

● Managing the majority of offenders in the community, excluding those who were MAPPA                         
(Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements) registered; 

● Offending behaviour programmes (for example, to tackle domestic abuse and improve                     
thinking skills) excluding Sex Offender Treatment Programmes; 

● Support services including: housing; education, training and employment; mentoring; and                   
Restorative Justice; 

● Integrated Offender Management (a multi-agency approach to reducing reoffending by                   
those whose crimes cause the most damage and harm locally); 

● Community Payback; 
● Senior Attendance Centres; 
● New ‘Through the Gate’ resettlement services aimed at ensuring that all offenders were                         

given continuous support by one provider from custody into the community. This included                         
accommodation, employment and financial advice. 

 
 On that basis, it is recommended that: 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 11 

Page 21



 

 

 

 

1 
Cabinet note the changes in how probation services operate since the                     
service was split in June 2014 into the London Community Rehabilitation                     
Company (CRC), responsible for the supervision of community orders for low                     
to medium risk offenders, and the revised National Probation Service with                     
responsibility for higher risk cases. 

 

The London Community Rehabilitation Company - lack of engagement  

In view of the aforementioned challenges experienced by the Working Group due to the CRC’s                             
unwillingness to participate in the scrutiny process and attend meetings, a decision was taken to                             
send a letter from the Council's Chief Executive Officer to her counterpart at MTC Novo - owner                                 
of the London CRC. The response received on 31 August 2017 from the Director of Probation and                                 
the London CRC reiterated that the CRC’s attendance at the Working Group was an impossibility                             
due to a lack of resources. However, an offer was extended to answer in writing any specific                                 
questions the Working Group might have. As a result of this communication, CRC was asked to                               
respond to a comprehensive list of questions that had been formulated by Members in                           
collaboration with officers. These questions were considered necessary in order to understand                       
the range of services provided to Hillingdon offenders and the effectiveness of those services.                           
(Appendix 1). Regrettably the CRC failed to provide a response to said questions, expressing                           
surprise at the ‘vast quantity of questions asked and the level of detail requested.’ 

The difficulties encountered by the Working Group were also raised with the Association of                           
Democratic Services Officers (ADSO) to establish whether other authorities had experienced                     
similar problems.  

Subsequently a number of specific questions raised by Members were put to HM Prison and                             
Probation Service (HMPPS). A response was received confirming that HMPPS had responsibility                       
for managing the CRC contracts and for assessing the performance of all CRCs ‘through a range                               
of service levels and through a robust contract management and assurance process.’ HMPPS                         
also confirmed that CRCs could receive payment-by-results income for meeting targets in                       
reoffending, that performance data was published quarterly and that CRCs were expected ‘to                         
engage with statutory and non-statutory local strategic and delivery partnerships.’ 

Whilst the review was somewhat successful in clarifying the roles of the organisations involved in                             
community sentencing, the performance of the CRCs continued to be hidden from public scrutiny                           
due to their refusal to engage with the local authority despite the best efforts of Members of the                                   
Community Sentencing Working Group. Members concluded that this willful lack of participation                       
in the scrutiny process demonstrated a failing in the contract appointing the London CRC and                             
meant that the efficacy of the CRC in Hillingdon could not be assured which was a matter of                                   
considerable concern. 

On that basis, it is recommended that: 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 12 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

2 
Cabinet recognise the challenges faced by the Working Group particularly in                     
view of the London Community Rehabilitation Company's failure to answer                   
Members' questions and participate readily in the scrutiny process; as a                     
result of which the Committee was unable to conduct a thorough review of                         
community sentencing in the Borough. 

 

Recent concerns 

Prior to the onset of the review, a report in the Times had raised concerns regarding community                                 
sentencing. Such concerns were reiterated in a recent article published in The Times on 3                             
January 2018 entitled ‘Judges have lost all faith in community sentences’ which claimed                         
‘Ministers are worried at the drop in community sentences being handed down by judges and                             
magistrates’ 
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/judges-have-lost-all-faith-in-community-sentences-x37ltsgw3 

The article quoted John Samuels, a former judge, who stated that ‘There is a widespread                             
perception among sentencers at all levels that the probation service and the new CRCs are                             
struggling to cope with their supervisory role’.  

Such proclamations in the media served only to further fuel the concerns of the Working Group                               
around the performance of the Community Rehabilitation Companies both locally and nationally. 

 

Call for Parliamentary action 

Laws regarding the local authority scrutiny function and local partners 

As the review progressed, it became apparent that the Working Group would not be in a position                                 
to conduct a detailed and worthwhile evaluation of community sentencing in the Borough without                           
the input of the London CRC. As a result of this, a decision was taken to explore the legal                                     
obligations of the CRC as a local partner and, if appropriate to do so, exert pressure on them to                                     
engage with the Working Group. Research revealed that the London CRC was obliged to                           
cooperate with the Council’s Scrutiny Committees in exercising its Crime and Disorder functions,                         
but could not be compelled  to attend meetings.  It was found that: 

1. Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 requires the Council to have a "crime and                                   
disorder committee" whose function is "to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action                           
taken, in connection with the discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder                             
functions”.  

2. The term "responsible authorities" is defined in Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.                                 
Included within this definition is "every provider of probation services operating within the area in                             
pursuance of arrangements under Section 3 of the Offender Management Act 2007". (This                         
definition was changed to include "providers of probation services" on 1 April 2010) 

3. Section 5(2) of the Crime and Disorder Act 2010 requires "providers of probation services" to                               
"cooperate" with the Council in the exercise of its Crime and Disorder function which includes                             

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 13 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

scrutiny arrangements. 

Given the difficulties encountered by the Working Group in the conduct of this review, the                             
Chairman of the Working Group elected to attend an informal workshop of the Communities and                             
Local Government Select Committee. The aim of said workshop was to consider the                         
effectiveness of local authority overview and scrutiny committees. Further to the workshop, the                         
Select Committee produced a detailed report highlighting the conclusions reached for the                       
consideration of Her Majesty’s Government. One of the pertinent conclusions reached related to                         
the difficulties that scrutiny committees may experience when monitoring services delivered by                       
external agencies and companies. The report found that: 

‘Scrutiny committees must be able to monitor and scrutinise the services provided to                         
residents. This includes services provided by public bodies and those provided by                       
commercial organisations. Committees should be able to access information and require                     
attendance at meetings from service providers and we call on DCLG to take steps to                             
ensure this happens. We support the CfPS proposal that committees must be able to                           
‘follow the council pound’ and have the power to oversee all taxpayer-funded services.’ 

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/369/36902.htm  

 

CRCs - additional contractual concerns 

As indicated previously, Members of the Working Group were also made aware of a ‘payment by                               
results’ element included in the contracts awarded to the CRCs in 2014 whereby a contractual                             
link existed between offender failure and financial gain. Members were informed that, as a result                             
of this contractual arrangement, breaches were allegedly not being reported or acted upon in the                             
same way as they had been in formative years because breach proceedings were seen as a                               
“Corporate” failure and were linked to performance pay.  

Moreover, Members were appraised of widespread concerns across the Criminal Justice System                       
(CJS) regarding the effectiveness of the CRCs, locally and nationally; largely attributable to the                           
fact that the initial contracts were so poorly designed in terms of finance. It was also felt that, if                                     
the judiciary were anxious as to the effectiveness of non custodial sentences such as community                             
orders, then less would be used as an alternative to custody and more offenders would be sent                                 
to prison unnecessarily. This was considered to be an unintended consequence of the failure or                             
potential failure of this scheme as seen by some in the CJS. 

Furthermore, the Working Group noted the findings of the recent workshop of the Communities                           
and Local Government Select Committee which stated that Scrutiny Committees had to be able                           
to monitor and scrutinise effectively the services provided to residents. The Select Committee                         
found that the conflict between commercial and democratic interests meant that many                       
companies were not set up to accommodate public accountability. The report stated: 

‘We would like to see the law changed and consolidated, to reflect the realities that local                               
authorities now face–particularly the fact that much council business is now transacted in                         
partnership. We would like to see an approach which uses the “council pound” as the                             
starting point for where scrutiny may intervene–that is to say, that scrutiny would have                           
power and responsibilities to oversee taxpayer-funded services where those services are                     

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 14 

Page 24



 

 

 

 

funded, wholly or in part, by local authorities.’ 

Overall, significant concerns were raised regarding the lack of local accountability of the North                           
West branch of London CRC. Members of the Working Group therefore concluded that there was                             
no evidence to suggest that the London CRC was operating effectively within the Borough and                             
that this would inevitably have repercussions on local residents in terms of the effectiveness of                             
community sentencing. Considerable consternation was expressed regarding Members’               
perceived inability to give assurance to residents that community sentences for less serious                         
crimes were being used effectively for reparation and punishment. The Working Group felt it                           
essential that these concerns be highlighted beyond the Council. On that basis, it is                           
recommended that: 

 

3 
Cabinet recognise the recent recommendations of the Communities and                 
Local Government Select Committee and request that the Chief Executive                   
forward the Working Group's findings both to local MPs (with a request for                         
comments and feedback) and to the Justices Committee, the Secretary of                     
State for Communities and Local Government and the Chairman of the                     
Communities and Local Government Parliamentary Scrutiny Committee,             
requesting that action be taken to improve the local accountability of                     
Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs), specifically in terms of               
scrutiny. 

 

Safer Hillingdon Partnership 

As previously mentioned, the non-attendance of the London CRC at Safer Hillingdon Partnership                         
meetings (t he Safer Hillingdon Partnership is Hillingdon’s statutory Community Safety                   
Partnership) has been drawn to the attention of the Working Group and is an area of                               
considerable concern.  

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Police and Justice Act 2006 and Police and Crime Act                                 
2009 make Community Safety Partnerships responsible for: 

● anti-social behaviour 
● behaviour affecting the environment 
● crime and disorder 
● reducing re-offending 

The Partnership comprises representatives at an executive level of the 'responsible authorities'                       
(police, local authority, fire and rescue authority, health service, probation service), the elected                         
Cabinet Member responsible for community safety at the Council, the Director of Public Health, a                             
representative from the London Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and the Chairman of                           
Hillingdon's Safer Neighbourhood Board.  

In a report published in November 2013, the Ministry of Justice set out its expectations regarding                               
CRCs and their responsibilities to Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs). The report stated that                         

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 15 

Page 25



 

 

 

 

‘We will designate CRCs as a responsible authority under section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act                                 
1998 in the contracts, and therefore subject to the statutory requirements to participate in CSPs.                             
We will expect them to fully meet their statutory responsibilities to these partnerships as we                             
believe it will be a key forum for providers to participate in and integrate with wider partners. The                                   
NPS will also continue to be a responsible authority. We expect the NPS and CRCs to decide how                                   
best to engage in the partnership in this instance. In transition, this function will be carried out by                                   
a representative from the CRC but the NPS can identify a lead representative to liaise with the                                 
CRC or also attend the CSP if resources allow.’ 

Given the aforementioned concerns regarding the reported non-participation of the London CRC                       
at Safer Hillingdon Partnership meetings, and the resultant repercussions of this in terms of the                             
perceived impact on local residents should the local CRC not be operating effectively in the                             
Borough, the Working Group commented that this issue should be brought to the attention of                             
Cabinet. 

On that basis, it is recommended that:  

4 
Cabinet also note the non-attendance of the London Community                 
Rehabilitation Company at Community Safety Partnership meetings, which               
has had a negative impact on the Partnership's ability to reduce crime and                         
reoffending in the Borough. 

 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation 

As previously indicated in this report, Members of the Working Group were informed of the                             
existence of an inspectorate - Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Probation - with responsibility for: 

● assuring Ministers and the public that adult and youth offending work is being delivered                           
effectively; 

● highlighting enablers and barriers to effective practice; 
● making recommendations to improve the quality and impact of the work in areas they                           

inspect; 
● enabling improvement in the effectiveness of probation and youth justice services across                       

England and Wales. 

Given the specific concerns raised regarding the lack of participation and more general concerns                           
around contracts and the effectiveness of CRCs, it was concluded that an early review of services                               
provided by the North West branch of the London CRC was essential. Such a review would fall                                 
within the remit of HM Inspectorate of Probation and the Working Group agreed that this issue                               
should also be brought to the attention of Cabinet to consider raising it further. 

On that basis, it is recommended that:  

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 16 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

5 
Cabinet request the Chief Executive write to HM Chief Inspector of Probation                       
to seek an inspection of the services provided by the London Community                       
Rehabilitation Company in Hillingdon. 

 

 

Terms of Reference of the review 

  

The following Terms of Reference were agreed by the Committee from the outset of the                             
review: 

1. To understand the roles of each organisation involved in community sentencing; 
2. To explore the effectiveness of community sentencing in terms of a reduction in repeat                           

offending; 
3. To identify what the implications of community sentencing have been for communities                       

across London and in Hillingdon; 
4. To explore ways in which community sentencing could be improved in Hillingdon; 
5. To examine the Council's role in community sentencing and identify whether/how this                       

could be improved; 
6. To examine best practice elsewhere through case studies, policy ideas and witness                       

sessions; 
7. After due consideration of the above, to bring forward recommendations to the Cabinet in                           

relation to the review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 17 

Page 27



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Witnesses and Committee activity 

  

The Committee received evidence from the following sources and witnesses: 

   

Witness Session 1 -       
28 June 2017 

Antony Rose, Head of Ealing, Harrow & Hillingdon, London Division,                   
National Probation Service; 

Witness Session 2 -       
21 September 2017 

Margaret O'Keefe, Deputy Justices' Clerk, HM Courts & Tribunals                 
Service;  

Antony Rose, Head of Ealing, Harrow & Hillingdon, London Division,                   
National Probation Service;  

Jacqui Robertson, Community Safety Team, LB Hillingdon 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 18 

Page 28



 

 

 

 

 

 

References 

  

  

Frances Gibb, (2017) ‘Number of offenders handed community sentences halves’, The Times, 27                         
April 2017 

Sophie du Mont and Harvey Redgrave (2017) ‘Where did it all go wrong? A study into the use of 
community sentences in England and Wales’, Crest Advisory, 25 April 2017 

Gwen Robinson, Lol Burke and Matthew Millings (2017) ‘Probation Privatisation and Legitimacy’, 
The Howard Journal of Crime and Justice Vol 56, No.2, June 2017 p.138 

Government legislation - Section 15, Criminal Justice Act 2003 

MOJ (2017) ‘Final and Interim Proven Reoffending statistics for the Community Rehabilitation 
Companies and the National Probation Service’, Ministry of Justice, 26 October 2017 

Frances Gibb, Richard Ford (2018) ‘Judges have lost all faith in community sentences’, 3 January 
2018 

Government legislation - Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 

Government legislation - Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Government legislation - Section 5(2) of the Crime and Disorder Act 2010 

Communities and Local Government Select Committee (2017) ‘Effectiveness of local authority 
overview and scrutiny committees’, 14 December 2017 

Government legislation - The Police and Crime Act 2009 

 

 

  

 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 19 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A - Questions sent to the London CRC 

Community orders - general questions 

Who determines which programmes are necessary for the training, treatment or rehabilitation of                         
offenders on community sentences? 

How does London CRC tailor interventions for an offender? 

Are there any plans to change the location, content or delivery of courses? 

Do offenders receive assistance to travel to locations (unpaid work and courses) that are some                             
distance away from home? 

Offender Programmes / Courses 

The NPS have advised us that the following accredited offender programmes are delivered to                           
offenders on community sentences:- 

a)    Violence including Domestic Violence Programmes - 
Building Better Relationships 
Resolve 

b)     Substance Misuse Programmes - 
Building Skills for Recovery (BSR) 
Drink Impaired Drivers (DIDP) 

c)    Cognitive and Motivational Programmes 
Thinking Skills (TSP) 
New Me Strengths (NMS) 

For each of the programmes, please describe: 

a)     Where they are delivered in London 

b)     What each programme is expected to achieve 

c)    What KPIs exist for each programme 

d)    How performance of each programme is monitored 

e) How each delivery centre is monitored and/or inspected to ensure it operates to                           
standard 

How does London CRC assess offenders to determine which programme they should attend? 

Please state the closest location for Hillingdon residents for each of the programmes? 

How many Hillingdon residents have attended each category of programme? 

For each programme please provide the maximum and average length of time that Hillingdon                           

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 20 

Page 30



 

 

 

 

offenders have to wait before commencing the programme. 

Unpaid Work 

What steps does London CRC take to engage with Local Authorities to identify suitable unpaid                             
work? 

Please give examples of best practice in working with local authorities to deliver unpaid work. 

Please describe how London CRC engages with LB Hillingdon to identify projects suitable for                           
unpaid work. 

What is London CRC's assessment of their engagement with LB Hillingdon with regard to unpaid                             
work? 

How might this relationship be strengthened? 

What unpaid work is presently available to offenders in LB Hillingdon? 

Please detail the different unpaid work programmes that have been delivered in Hillingdon in                           
2015 and 2016. 

How is unpaid work identified?  What are the criteria for unpaid work? 

How can partners / public suggest possible unpaid work opportunities? 

What number and percentage of unpaid work suggestions are taken up? 

Why are some unpaid work opportunities taken up and others not? 

How does London CRC determine what type of unpaid work is most appropriate for each                             
offender? 

How many Hillingdon offenders have attended unpaid work in 2015 and 2016? 

How does London CRC deal with offenders that are signed off work sick? 

What percentage of local offenders undertakes local unpaid work? And what is this percentage                           
for Hillingdon offenders? 

What level of leniency is given by CRC to offenders undertaking unpaid work orders or courses                               
(in terms of attendance and effort)? 

Where is unpaid work currently undertaken by offenders resident in LB Hillingdon? 

Monitoring, supervision and effectiveness 

How many (and what percentage of) offenders breach the conditions of an unpaid work order in                               
London and in Hillingdon? 

How many (and what percentage of) offenders breach the conditions of a programme / course in                               
London and in Hillingdon? 

What reports are produced by the London CRC to illustrate the effectiveness of unpaid work                             
orders and courses? 

Does London CRC benchmark its courses / programmes against other CRCs? 

If so, what benchmark measures are used and where is the data published? 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 21 

Page 31



 

 

 

 

What feedback is given to the court on work orders and courses? How often is this feedback                                 
given? 

How does London CRC ensure that unpaid work is done properly? 

How are offenders supervised in unpaid work? How do you ensure the effectiveness of this                             
supervision? 

What feedback is gathered from those who carry out work orders? 

How is success of unpaid work measured? 

Although a work plan is part and parcel of punishment, it should serve a wider purpose. With this                                   
in mind, what interaction is there with wider businesses and employers to bring them on board? 

How effective is the Attendance Centre and how is this monitored (specifically Mill Hill and                             
Hounslow)? 

How many repeat offenders are seen by CRC (number and percentage for Hillingdon and                           
London for 2015 and 2016)? 

Holding the CRC to account 

Who holds the CRC to account and how is this done? 

How does the CRC payment by results contract work? What does ‘results’ mean? Exactly what is                               
the CRC measured on? 

Would the CRC describe the service it provides in Hillingdon and London as being robust and                               
properly managed?  What evidence is there to support this? 

Communication 

How does London CRC actively communicate with offenders? 

What is the standard for the timeliness of CRC contact with an offender sentenced to a                               
community sentence? 

What is the performance against this standard in London and in Hillingdon for 2015 and 2016? 

How does the CRC monitor the effectiveness of its communication and interventions? 

What communication does CRC have with residents to assure them of the effectiveness of                           
community sentencing in general and the CRC’s monitoring thereof? 

How frequently does CRC communicate with the NPS, police and Council? What form does this                             
communication take? What is the purpose of this communication? 

How would CRC describe its relationship with the NPS, police and Council in Hillingdon? How                             
does this compare with other boroughs? 

What steps does the CRC take to ensure the public continue to have confidence in Community                               
sentences? 

 

A review of community sentencing in Hillingdon  Page 22 

Page 32



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 13 February 2018 
 

EXTERNAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 

2017/2018 

Contact Officer: Nikki O'Halloran 
Telephone: 01895 250472 

 

Appendix A: Work Programme 2017/2018 
 

REASON FOR ITEM 
 
To enable the Committee to track the progress of its work in 2017/2018 and forward plan its 
work for the current municipal year. 
 
OPTIONS OPEN TO THE COMMITTEE   
 
Members may add, delete or amend future items included on the Work Programme.  The 
Committee may also make suggestions about future issues for consideration at its meetings. 
 
INFORMATION 
 
1. The Committee's meetings tend to start at either 5pm or 6pm and the witnesses attending 
each of the meetings are generally representatives from external organisations, some of 
whom travel from outside of the Borough.  The meeting dates for this municipal year are as 
follows:  

Meetings Room 

Wednesday 14 June 2017, 6pm CR6 

Tuesday 11 July 2017, 6pm CR6 

Wednesday 6 September 2017, 6pm CR5 

Thursday 14 September 2017, 6pm CR6 

Wednesday 11 October 2017, 6pm CR6 

Tuesday 14 November 2017, 6pm CR5 

Thursday 11 January 2018, 6pm CR6 

Tuesday 13 February 2018, 6pm CR6 

Wednesday 14 March 2018, 6pm CR6 

 
2. It has previously been agreed by Members that consideration will be given to revising the 
start time of each meeting on an ad hoc basis should the need arise.  Further details of the 
issues to be discussed at each meeting can be found at Appendix A. 
 

3. Following the meeting to discuss the provision of GP services in Heathrow Villages on 11 
January 2018, Members are advised that the Committee's findings will be submitted to 
Cabinet on 19 April 2018. 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
None. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 11 January 2018  
 

APPENDIX A 
 

EXTERNAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

2017/2018 WORK PROGRAMME 
 

NB – all meetings start at 6pm in the Civic Centre unless otherwise indicated. 
 

Shading indicates completed meetings 
 

Meeting Date Agenda Item 

14 June 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Friday 2 June 2017 

 

Update on the implementation of recommendations from 
previous scrutiny reviews: 

• Alcohol Related Admissions Amongst Under 18s 
 
Major Review (2017/2018): Consideration of scoping report. 
 

11 July 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Friday 30 June 2017 

Health  
Performance updates and updates on significant issues: 
1. The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
2. Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust 
3. Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust 
4. The London Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
5. Public Health 
6. Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group  
7. Healthwatch Hillingdon 

 
NHS England Consultation on the Future of Congenital 
Heart Disease Services 
 
CQC Consultation Response 
 

6 September 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Friday 25 August 2017 

NHS England - Proposals to Implement Standards for 
Congenital Heart Disease (CHD) Services for Children 
and Adults in England  
To provide Members with an opportunity to speak to 
representatives from NHS England about the proposals for 
children's congenital heart disease services in England. 
 

14 September 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Monday 4 September 
2017 

Crime & Disorder 
 
MOPAC - Public Access and Engagement Strategy: To 
review the consultation document and provide comment.   
 
LAC offenders: To scrutinise the issue of crime and disorder 
in the Borough: 
1. Community Safety  
2. Youth Offending Service 
3. Corporate Parenting  
4. Public Health 

Page 35



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 11 January 2018  
 

Meeting Date Agenda Item 

How many LAC offend as a result of substance misuse?   
What proportion of young offenders are LAC?  
What proportion of LAC offenders go on to reoffend? 
 

11 October 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Friday 29 September 
2017 

 

Update from Utility Companies on Plans to 
Accommodate Increasing Demand on Services 
To receive an update on plans to accommodate the 
increasing demand on services that has resulted from 
increased housing development in the Borough. 
 
2017/2019 Better Care Fund Plan  
To receive an update on the Better Care Fund (BCF). 
 

14 November 2017 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Thursday 2 November 
2017 

Health  
Performance updates and updates on significant issues: 
1. The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
2. Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust 
3. Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust 
4. The London Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
5. Public Health 
6. Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group  
7. Healthwatch Hillingdon 

 

11 January 2018  
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Tuesday 2 January 
2018 
 

GP Service Provision in Heathrow Villages  
To scrutinise the issue of GP service provision in Heathrow 
Villages: 
1. Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
2. Public Health  
3. Hillingdon Local Medical Committee 
4. Healthwatch Hillingdon 
5. Service Users 

 

13 February 2018 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Thursday 1 February 
2017 

Crime & Disorder 
To scrutinise the issue of crime and disorder in the Borough: 
1. London Borough of Hillingdon  
2. Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)  
3. Safer Neighbourhoods Team (SNT) 
4. London Fire Brigade  
5. London Probation Area 
6. British Transport Police 
7. Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
8. Public Health 

 
Major Review (2017/2018) - Community Sentencing: 
Consideration of final report from the Community Sentencing 
Working Group 
 
 

Page 36



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 11 January 2018  
 

Meeting Date Agenda Item 

14 March 2018 
 
Report Deadline:  
3pm Thursday 1 March 
2018 
 

Health  
Performance updates and updates on significant issues: 
1. The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
2. Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust 
3. Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust 
4. The London Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
5. Public Health 
6. Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group  
7. Healthwatch Hillingdon 

 

Possible future single meeting or major review topics and update reports 

• Telecommunications - plans in place by BT regarding advancements made in 
mobile technology 

• Mental health discharge 

• Update on the implementation of recommendations from previous scrutiny reviews: 
Hospital Discharges (SSH&PH POC) 

• Post Offices 
 

 

Page 37



 
PART I – MEMBERS, PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
External Services Scrutiny Committee – 11 January 2018  
 

PROPOSED MAJOR SCRUTINY REVIEW (WORKING GROUP) 
 
Members of the Working Group:  

• Councillors Edwards (Chairman), Allen, Dann, Higgins, Khatra and Palmer 
 
Topic: Community Sentencing 
 

Meeting Action Purpose / Outcome 

ESSC:  
14 June 2017 

Agree Scoping Report Information and analysis 
 

Working Group:  
1st Meeting -  
5pm 28 June 2017 
 

Introductory Report / 
Witness Session 1 

Evidence and enquiry: 

• National Probation Service 
o How does the management split work 
in practice? 

Working Group:  
2nd Meeting -  
CANCELLED  
5pm 20 July 2017 
 

Witness Session 2 
(Management) 

Evidence and enquiry: 

• Magistrates 
o How many community sentences 
given? For what duration? 

o How many repeat offenders? 
o Magistrates' expectations of community 
sentences? 

o Standards expected from offenders 
(e.g., behaviour, attendance)? 

o Do Magistrates think community 
sentencing works well? How could it be 
improved? 

Working Group:  
3rd Meeting -  
CANCELLED  
5pm 1 August 2017 

Witness Session 3 
(Operational) 

Evidence and enquiry: 

• Community Rehabilitation Company 
o What community sentence work is 
done in LBH and how often?  

• Community Safety Team 

Working Group:  
4th Meeting -  
5pm 21 September 
2017 

Witness Session 2 Evidence and enquiry: 

• National Probation Service 

• West London Local Justice Area 

• Community Safety Team 

Working Group:  
5th Meeting -  
5pm 29 January 
2018 

Consider Draft Final 
Report 

Proposals – agree recommendations and 
final draft report 

ESSC:  
13 February 2018 

Consider Draft Final 
Report 

Agree recommendations and final draft 
report 

Cabinet:  
15 March 2018 
(Agenda published  
8 March 2018) 

Consider Final Report Agree recommendations and final report 

 

Additional stakeholder events, one-to-one meetings and site visits can also be set up to gather 
further evidence. 

Page 38


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting - 11 January 2018
	6 Community Sentencing Working Group Final Report
	Appendix

	7 Work Programme 2017/2018
	Appendix A


